UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 97-40578

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

STEFAN SEAN ANTO NE,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Texas

(1: 96- CV- 75)

January 20, 1999
Bef ore DeMOSS, PARKER, and DENNIS, G rcuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Appel | ant St ef an Sean Antoi ne (“Antoine”), a federal prisoner,
was convicted by a jury of using and carrying a firearmduring and
inrelation to a drug offense in violation of 28 U S.C. 8§ 924(c).
Ant oi ne appeal ed the conviction and we affirnmed. United States v.

Ant oi ne, 68 F.3d 466 (5th Gr. 1995). Antoine now appeals fromthe

Pursuant to 5TH CR. R 47.5, the Court has determ ned
that this opinion should not be published and is not precedent
except under the limted circunstances set forth in 5TH QR R
47.5. 4.



district court’s denial of his pro se notion to vacate, set aside,
or correct sentence under 28 U.S.C. § 2255. W affirmthe district

court.

. FACTS

On January 30, 1992, Antoine drove with Rodrick D. Kirklin
(“Kirklin”) from Lake Charles, Louisiana, to Houston, Texas, to
secure a quantity of cocaine that was to be resold in Lake Charl es.
The two nmen, who were traveling in Kirklin' s car, were carrying
pi st ol s. Kirklin was armed with a .22 caliber derringer while
Antoine carried a .45 caliber handgun. On arriving in Houston
Ant oi ne went to his nother’s apartnent where he was given a plastic
di aper bag filled with cocaine. Antoine then placed the di aper bag
behi nd t he passenger seat of Kirklin’ s car; the firearns were kept
in the trunk. That night, Antoine and Kirklin began their trip
back to Lake Charles. Kirklin was driving the car while Antoine
occupi ed the passenger seat.

Wil e traveling east on |-10, Antoi ne and Kirklin were stopped
and detained by two officers of the Jefferson County Sheriff’s
Departnent for routine traffic violations. A subsequent pat-down
search of Antoine revealed an ammunition clip to a .45 cali ber
handgun in Antoine’ s coat pocket. That discovery ultimtely |ed
to the trunk of the car, where one of the officers recovered
Antoine’s .45 caliber handgun, which he admtted was his, and
Kirklin's .22 caliber derringer. On the floorboard behind the

passenger seat the police recovered the plastic diaper bag that



cont ai ned the cocai ne.

Ant oi ne was subsequently indicted on one count of possession
with intent to distribute cocaine, in violation of 21 U S. C
8§ 841(a)(1l), and one count of using and carrying a firearmduring
and in relation to a drug trafficking crine, in violation of 18
US C 8§8924(c). After atwo-day trial, inwhich Kirklin testified
on behalf of the governnment, a jury found Antoine guilty of the
firearns of fense, but was unable to reach a unani nous verdict with
regard to the substantive drug charge. Antoine was then sentenced
to 60 nonths inprisonment with a three year term of supervised
rel ease. Antoine appealed. W affirned his conviction. United
States v. Antoine, 68 F.3d 466 (5th Gr. 1995).

On February 2, 1996, Antoine filed a pro se notion to vacate,
set aside, or correct sentence under 28 U S.C. 8§ 2255, in which he
challenged his conviction based on the Suprene Court’s

interpretation of "use" in Bailey v. United States, 516 U S. 137,
143 (1995) (holding that “use” requires evidence "sufficient to
show an active enploynent of the firearm by the defendant, a use
that makes the firearm an operative factor in relation to the
predicate offense").2 A mmgistrate judge considered Antoine’'s
notion and recommended that it be denied. The district court
accepted the nmagistrate judge’'s recommendation over Antoine’s

obj ections, and denied the notion. Antoine then filed the instant

2 Because Antoine’'s 8§ 2255 motion was filed before the
effective date of the Antiterrorismand Effective Death Penalty Act
of 1996, a certificate of appealability is not required for this
Court to consider his appeal. See United States v. Carter, 117
F.3d 262, 264 (5th Cr. 1997).



pro se appeal.

1. DI SCUSSI ON
Ant oi ne contends that the district court erroneously charged
the jury with the pre-Bailey neaning of “use.”® He also asserts
that the evidence presented at trial does not denonstrate that he
“used” the firearmw thin the neani ng of Bail ey because there is no

evi dence that he actively enpl oyed the weapon.* The governnent has

3 Inits charge to the jury, the district court stated in
pertinent part:

Now Count Il of the Indictnment accuses t he Def endant
of using or carrying a firearmduring and in relation to
a drug trafficking crine. Title 18, United States Code,
Section 924(c)(1), nmakes it a crinme for anyone to use or
carry a firearm during and in relation to a drug
trafficking crine .

The Governnent is not required to prove that the
Def endant actually fired the weapon or brandished it at
soneone in order to prove “use,” asis [sic] that termis
used in these instructions. However, you nust be
convi nced beyond a reasonable doubt that the firearm
played a role in or facilitated the conm ssion of the
drug of fense. In other words, you nust find that the
firearmcoul d have been used to protect, facilitate, or
have the potential to facilitate drug trafficking.
Further, this elenents [sic] does not depend on proof
that the Defendant had actual possession of the firearm
or use [sic] it in any affirmative manner, but it does
require evidence that the firearm was available to
provide protection to the Defendant in connection with
hi s engagenent in drug trafficking, if any.

4 In this appeal, Antoine also contends that his 8§ 924(c)
conviction cannot stand because he was not convicted of the
underlying drug trafficking offense in count one of the indictnent.
This argunent is wthout nerit. In United States v. Ranos-
Rodri guez, 136 F.3d 465, 467 (5th Gr. 1998), cert. denied, 67
USLW (US Nov. 2, 1998) (No. 98-5114), this Court acknow edged
that a conviction under 8 924(c) does not require a conviction on
the underlying drug offense. W also held that an acquittal on the
underlying drug offense does not preclude a conviction under 8§
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conceded that the district court’s instruction on use was
erroneous. The governnent alleges, however, that reversal of
Antoine’s conviction is not required because Antoi ne was charged
W th using or carrying a firearm and there is sufficient evidence
to support his conviction on the carry prong of 8 924(c). In an
attenpt to circunvent that argunent, Antoine contends that under
United States v. Fike, 82 F.3d 1315 (5th Cr. 1996), overrul ed by
United States v. Brown, . F.3d ____, No. 95-31000, 1998 W. 792511
(5th Gr. Nov 16, 1998), this Court is obligated to reverse his
conviction. W disagree.

It is true that in Fike and United States v. Brown, 102 F.3d
1390 (5th Gr. 1996), overruled by United States v. Brown, _ F. 3d
., No. 95-31000, 1998 W. 792511 (5th Cir. Nov 16, 1998), this

Court established a rule requiring remand for a new trial on the

i ssue of “carry” whenever a district court instructs the jury under

the pre-Bailey definition of “use. See United States v. Brown,
___F.3d ___, ____, No. 95-31000, 1998 W. 792511, at *1 (5th Gr
Nov 16, 1998) (recogni zing that these two cases established a “per
se rule”). But this Court recently revisited those hol dings en
banc, and replaced the per se rule of reversal with a form of
harm ess error analysis. Brown, = F.3dat __ , 1998 W 792511

at 2-3. W now ask whether the jury, in finding the defendant

924(c) when there is anpl e evidence show ng that a reasonable jury
could have found the defendant guilty of the predicate offense.
| d. Here, there is anple evidence that Antoine commtted the
predi cate drug trafficking offense alleged in count one of the
i ndictment, possession wth intent to distribute cocaine in
violation of 21 U S.C. § 841(a)(1).

5



guilty of the pre-Bailey definition of “use,” necessarily found
t hat the defendant carried the firearm as defined in Muscarello v.
United States, = U S |, 118 S. . 1911 (1998) (holding that
phrase “carry” is not limted to the carrying of firearns on the
person, but also applies to a person who know ngly possesses and
conveys a firearm in a vehicle, including in the |ocked glove

conpartnent or trunk of a car). Thus, if the jury' s finding of

use” equates to a finding of carry based on the particular facts
of a case, the erroneous use instruction constitutes harmnl ess
error.

In this case, the jury found Antoine guilty of “use” on
evidence that Antoine and Kirklin transported the firearns in
Kirklin s car fromlLake Charles to Houston, and on the return trip
from Houston to Lake Charles. The jury also heard evi dence that
Antoine admtted to owning the .45 caliber handgun, and that the
firearmwas available to himin case the drug transaction did not
go as planned. On these facts, the jury's finding of wuse
necessarily equates to a finding of carry within the neaning of
Muscarel | o. As such, the district <court’s erroneous use
instruction was harm ess error that does not require the reversal

of Ant oi ne’ s convi cti on. We AFFI RMt he district court’s deni a

of Antoine § 2255 noti on.



